RECEIVED

Apr 23 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Barnwell County

Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

VS.

LINTEL LAZZIL KIRKLAND,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000620

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the denial of Appellant's time-served credit pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 violated Appellant's substantive due process rights?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by a Barnwell County grand jury during the July 2024 term for one count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor, second degree. R. 309-10. The state, represented by David W. Miller and Leigh B. Staggs, called the case to trial on March 25, 2025, before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, and a jury. Appellant was represented by C. David Hayes and A. Wallis Alves. R. 1. After a three-day trial, Appellant was found guilty as indicted. R. 286, ll. 5-14. Judge McLeod sentenced Appellant to eight years' incarceration. R. 301, ll. 16-19. An order clarifying Appellant's sentence was filed on May 28, 2025. R. 312-13. Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal from his conviction and sentence.

This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only.” State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 591, 828 S.E.2d 203, 209 (2019) (citing State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010). A statute is presumed constitutional, and the validity will be upheld, unless its repugnance to the constitution is clear beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. McSwain, 445 S.C. 276, 282-83, 914 S.E.2d 124, 127 (2025). This general presumption of validity can be overcome only by a clear showing the act violates some provision of the constitution. Doe v State, 421 S.C. 490, 501, 808 S.E.2d 807, 813 (2017).

ARGUMENT

The denial of Appellant's time-served credit pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 violated Appellant's substantive due process rights.

Relevant Facts

Prior to Appellant being sentenced, the state informed the court that, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40, Appellant was not entitled to any pre-trial credit because he was on bond for charges out of Aiken County at the time he was arrested and charged with CSCM in Barnwell County. R. 292, ll. 2-16. Defense counsel objected to the denial of pre-trial credit, arguing "that statute unfairly creates a situation where a defendant can get more time than what the statute constitutionally allows and what the legislature has given Your Honor the authority to give for these charges." R. 293, ll. 8-14. He maintained that while Appellant would not get credit on the Aiken charges for the 618 days he had spent in pre-trial lock-up in Barnwell, he was entitled to that credit in the Barnwell case. He requested that Appellant be given 618 days' credit because the statute was unconstitutional and outside the limits of what our law allows in sentencing. R. 293, l. 9 – 296, l. 20. The state maintained that the statute was clear; Appellant was on bond in Aiken when he committed subsequent crimes in Barnwell, and he was therefore not entitled to any credit. R. 295, ll. 13-22.

The trial court stated that this is "an issue on sentencing sheets outside of this courthouse. It's an appellate issue that will have to get flushed out unfortunately." R. 296, ll. 5-8. He further stated that he was checking the box to follow the statute on the time served issued and had notated on the sentencing sheet that Appellant's bond had been revoked as of July 27, 2023, and he had 618 days in the Barnwell County Detention Center. R. 301, ll. 13-19; R. 311. On May 28, 2025, an order clarifying sentence was filed which read:

It was the intent of this Court to allow the Department of Corrections to apply §24-13-40 and to give the Defendant any time he is *authorized by the statute* to receive. If, as alleged by the State, he is not entitled to any time served following his arrest on the Barnwell County charge, the Defendant's eight (8) year sentence should commence from March 27, 2025. The additional information regarding the date the Defendant's bond was revoked and the amount of time Defendant had been incarcerated in the Barnwell County jail was provided for the convenience of SCDC, but only if they determined that the information was needed to compute the Defendant's credit in accordance with the statute.

R. 312-13. (emphasis in original). An email sent by the solicitor to defense counsel indicated that Appellant would be entitled to eight days' credit on the Barnwell County charges as that was the time he was in jail prior to his bond being revoked. R. 303-04.

Discussion

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 was amended as part of the 2023 Bond Reform law passed by the General Assembly and signed by Governor McMaster on June 20, 2023. *Bond Reform*, S.C. Acts No. 83, § 8 (2023). Prior to the passage of this act, there were only two exceptions to the general rule that all persons must be given full credit for time served: (1) the prisoner who was incarcerated pre-trial was an escapee; and (2) the prisoner was serving a sentence for one offense while awaiting trial on another. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (West 2013). The Bond Reform law added two new exceptions which act to deny pre-trial credit: when the prisoner commits a subsequent crime while out on bond or when the defendant's bond was revoked prior to the resolution of the case. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3, 4) (current). The current law now reads:

The computation of the time served by prisoners under sentences imposed by the courts of this State must be calculated from the date of the imposition of the sentence. However, when (a) a prisoner shall have given notice of intention to appeal, (b) the commencement of the service of the sentence follows the revocation of probation, or (c) the court shall have designated a specific time for the commencement of the service of the sentence,

the computation of the time served must be calculated from the date of the commencement of the service of the sentence. In every case in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing, and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest. Provided, however, that credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given: (1) when the prisoner at the time he was imprisoned prior to trial was an escapee from another penal institution; (2) when the prisoner is serving a sentence for one offense and is awaiting trial and sentence for a second offense in which case he shall not receive credit for time served prior to trial in a reduction of his sentence for the second offense; (3) *when the prisoner commits a subsequent crime while out on bond; or* (4) *has bond revoked on any charge prior to trial or plea.*

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (emphasis added). South Carolina appears to be the only state with a similar sentencing regime. *See* Kimberly Ferzan, *The Trouble with Time Served*, 48 B.Y.U. L. Rev. 2001, 2005-06 & n.11 (2023) (collecting statutes).

“No State shall... deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law...” U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3 (similar). “Nor [shall any state] deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” *Id.* The Due Process Clause contains both procedural and substantive due process protections. Procedural due process protects against the deprivation of a constitutionally protected interest unless the government provides the person with, at minimum, “notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review.” *State v. Binnarr*, 400 S.C. 156, 165, 733 S.E.2d 890, 895 (2012) (quoting *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm’n*, 376 S.C. 165, 171, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2008)). But due process “guarantees more than fair process,” it also “provides heightened protection against government interference with certain fundamental rights and liberty interests.” *Washington v. Glucksberg*, 521 U.S. 701, 719-20 (1997). Substantive due process is used to protect freedoms that are not specifically enumerated in the Constitution but are “deeply rooted

in this Nation's history and tradition." *Id.* at 721; see also, e.g., Loving v. Virginia, 388 U.S. 1 (1967) (right to marry); Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479 (1965) (marital privacy). The main purpose of substantive due process is to prevent the government from engaging in conduct that "shocks the conscience," or "interferes with rights implicit in the concept of ordered liberty." United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 746 (1987) (*citing, inter alia*, Rochin v. California, 342 U.S. 165, 172 (1952)).

Determining whether a due process violation has occurred involves a two-step inquiry; first, the court must determine whether the interest involved is a protected legal interest, and second, the court must determine "what process is due under those circumstances." Bd. of Regents of State Colls. v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 571-73 (1972). Courts typically do this by reviewing the challenged law under differing levels of constitutional scrutiny. In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 140, 568 S.E.2d 338, 346-47 (2002). A statute that infringes upon a fundamental right must satisfy strict scrutiny, the most exacting scrutiny available. *Id.* at 140-41, 568 S.E.2d at 347. To satisfy strict scrutiny, the state must show that its statute is narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest. *Id.*

Unquestionably, § 24-13-40 infringes upon a fundamental right, if not *the* most fundamental right – the right to liberty. "Without question, imprisonment is recognized as one of the greatest deprivations of liberty." Binnarr, 400 S.C. at 165, 733 S.E.2d at 895. "Freedom from bodily restraint has always been at the core of the liberty protected by the Due Process Clause from arbitrary governmental action. It is clear that commitment for any purpose constitutes a significant deprivation of liberty that requires due process protection." Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 80 (1992) (collecting cases; internal citations omitted). "There can be no doubt the length of an inmate's incarceration implicates a constitutional liberty interest." Tant v.

South Carolina Dept. of Corr., 408 S.C. 334, 341, 759 S.E.2d 398, 401 (2014). It therefore follows that strict scrutiny must be applied to the statute at issue such that it must be narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest.

There is nothing in the code section, such as a preamble or prefatory language, to indicate the “compelling state interest” that requires denying all credit to individuals who are accused of committing subsequent crimes. It can be assumed that the interest was to protect the public from repeat violent offenders and to further deter the commission of further crime while on bond, but those interests are not set down in any official manner. Ultimately, this Court is left to speculate as to the specific “compelling state interest” being used to circumscribe a fundamental right of a defendant.

Presuming, without conceding, that a compelling state interest exists – such as the government’s interest in deterring criminal behavior or protecting society from criminal behavior – the statute fails because it is not narrowly tailored. To be narrowly tailored to a compelling government interest, the law must be “necessary” to achieve that interest. See Students for Fair Admissions, Inc. v. President and Fellows of Harvard College, 600 U.S. 181, 207 (2023).

In United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, the United States Supreme Court analyzed, a substantive due process challenge to the Bail Reform Act. Id. The Act provided that “[i]f, after a hearing...the judicial officer finds that no condition or combination of conditions will reasonably assure the appearance of the person as required and the safety of any other person and the community, he shall order the detention of the person prior to trial.” Id. at 742 (*quoting* 18 U.S.C. § 3142(f)). The Court recognized a general constitutional rule that substantive due process prohibits the government from detaining a person prior to a judgment of guilt in a criminal trial. Id. at 749. However, there were certain exceptions to this general rule. Id. at 749.

Finding that the Bail Reform Act was constitutional, the Court pointed out that it was exceptionally narrowly tailored in that the Bail Reform Act provided that bail could only be denied for a “specific category of extremely serious offenses,” after an evidentiary hearing wherein the government must establish both probable cause that the crime has been committed by the arrestee and clear and convincing evidence that no set of bond conditions would protect the community. Id. at 750.

Similarly, the South Carolina Supreme Court considered the constitutionality of the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVP Act) under a strict scrutiny test in Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. at 140, 568 S.E.2s at 347. Our Court found that the SVP Act survived strict scrutiny because it was narrowly tailored to apply only to “a limited subclass of dangerous persons” who by reason of mental illness were “likely to commit a dangerous act.” *Id.* at 144. 568 S.E.2d at 349 (internal citations removed). Importantly, the SVP Act would not have been constitutional if it allowed the state to civilly commit any individual convicted of a sex crime without any determination that the individual suffers a mental illness that prevents them from conforming their behavior to the law.

The extremely broad language of the statute encompasses every individual charged with any type of crime in South Carolina regardless of the nature of offense or the offender. The statute does not require any information about the initial offense or bond, nor does it require any level of proof outside of the second arrest to trigger the penalty. Further, the statute does not require a conviction be in place before it imposes a punishment – it requires the forfeiture of any pre-trial detention time on the basis of simply being re-arrested. Compared to the statutes at issue in Salerno, which only applied to *violent* offenders, and Luckabaugh, *supra*, which applied only to a narrow subset of sex offenders, the specific provision of the Bond Reform Act, which