STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Apr 21 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BARNWELL COUNTY
Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000620

The State,Respondent,

v.

Lintel Lazzil Kirkland,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

BILL WEEKS
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit
214 Park Ave. SW
Aiken, South Carolina 29801
(803) 642-1557

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant’s argument—that the trial court’s denial, in compliance with section 24-13-40 of the South Carolina Code, of time-served credit for the time he spent in jail awaiting trial and sentencing on the crime for which he was convicted, violated his substantive due process rights—is not preserved for appellate review because it was not sufficiently raised to or ruled upon by the circuit court. In any event, because: (1) the plea court sentenced Appellant within statutory limits for his crimes, and (2) Appellant does not have a fundamental right to credit for presentence jail time where it is not part of the punishment imposed; the statutory denial of the desired credit did not infringe upon substantive due process.

Appellant argues the trial court erred by denying him, due to his commission of a subsequent crime while on bond, time served credit for the time that he spent in jail awaiting sentencing, because the application of S.C. Code § 24-13-40(3) violated his substantive due process rights, resulting in 618 days served but not credited.³ He contends the statute is “facially invalid” because there can be no valid application where it is not narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling state interest and where it infringes upon a fundamental constitutional right—the right to liberty. Appellant claims the statute also fails substantive due process review because there are less restrictive measures the State could use, and does use, to achieve any purported interest it has in deterring additional crime which might be committed by those out on bond. Finally, Appellant contends that even if not facially invalid, the statute is nevertheless “unconstitutional as applied,” because it resulted in the service of an additional 618 days in pre-trial punishment in violation of his right to due process. (Brief of Appellant, p.5-p.10). The State

³ Appellant’s argument appears to be grounded in the assumption that the plea court’s refusal to award credit for presentence detention time was based on subsection (3) of section 24-13-40 [“credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given . . . when the prisoner commits a subsequent crime while out on bond”]. However, as explained above, the operative provision was actually subsection (4) of section 24-13-40 [“credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given . . . when the prisoner . . . has bond revoked on any charge prior to trial or plea”]. Regardless of which subsection was applicable, the lack of any specific reference to a particular constitutional provision and any confusion about which subsection of the statute the trial court applied only serves to highlight the significant issue preservation problem discussed below.

disagrees and submits Appellant's argument, and his associated sub-arguments, should all be denied and dismissed on several grounds.

A. Issue Not Preserved for Appeal

First and foremost, the argument raised in Appellant's brief is not preserved for appellate review because it was not adequately raised to and ruled upon by the lower court. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the Appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court *with sufficient specificity*. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

This issue preservation requirement applies to assertions of constitutional violations. *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421, 432, 735 S.E.2d 471, 477 (2012); *State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 584, 611 S.E.2d 273, 282 (Ct. App. 2005). Indeed, our courts have consistently held that a constitutional claim must be raised and ruled upon to be preserved for appellate review. *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 552, 564 S.E.2d 87, 91 (2002); *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001); *Hoffman v. Powell*, 298 S.C. 338, 380 S.E.2d 821 (1989). "A bald assertion, without supporting argument, does not preserve an issue for appeal." *McCracken* at 92, 551 S.E.2d at 235.

Here, Counsel agreed it would be appropriate to deny Appellant credit against any Aiken County sentence for the time he served in Barnwell County detention per subsection (3) because Appellant would have committed "a subsequent crime [in Barnwell] while out on bond [from Aiken]." Counsel, however, objected to any denial of credit for the time served against the

Barnwell sentence, arguing subsection (4), which would be implicated because Appellant had “his bond revoked on any charge prior to trial or plea,” “unfairly creates a situation where a defendant can get more time than what the statute constitutionally allows.” In other words, Appellant took the position that the statute was unconstitutional because it could result in a defendant serving more time incarcerated than the maximum sentence that is statutorily allowed for his crime, but Counsel *never* articulated how this assertion, even if true, violated the United States or South Carolina Constitutions. He never argued the statute was unconstitutional in violation of substantive due process, either facially or as applied. (R.p.293, line 8-p.295, line 12). Indeed, Counsel did not mention substantive due process at all, never claimed the statute infringes upon a fundamental right, and never asked the trial court to evaluate it under strict scrutiny or rational basis review. Even though the trial judge commented this [credit for time served under § 24-13-40 issue] was “becoming an issue on sentencing sheets outside of this courthouse” and was only likely to be resolved as an “appellate issue,” the court *also* failed to reference due process or any other constitutional provisions in simply applying the terms of the statute. (R.p.296, lines 5-8). Indeed, even in the subsequent written order clarifying the sentence, whereby Judge McLeod noted the statute was “clear on its face” and that his intent was “to allow the Department of Corrections to apply §24-13-40 and to give [Appellant] any time he is authorized by the statute to receive,” the trial court did not make a direct determination about any constitutional issues. (R.p.312-p.313). Thus, regardless of whether there is any merit to the question of whether the statute at issue violates substantive due process (which the State strongly contends it does not), Appellant was obligated to specifically bring that issue and his argument to the attention of Judge McLeod during sentencing and to obtain a ruling on the issue from the

lower court. Because Appellant failed to do so, this entire matter should *not* be addressed on appeal and the lower court's order should simply be affirmed without further discussion.

B. Issue is Without Merit

If this Court determines Appellant's argument was sufficiently specific to be preserved for appellate review, it is nevertheless without merit because: (1) the trial judge acted well within his discretion by sentencing Appellant within statutory limits, and (2) Appellant did not have a fundamental right to credit for presentence jail time where presentence jail time is *not* part of the sentence imposed. Consequently, the statutory amendments prohibiting the award of credit for presentence jail time do not infringe upon substantive due process, either on their face or "as applied" to Appellant.

1. Sentence was within Statutory Limits

A judge is allowed broad discretion in sentencing within statutory limits." *Garrett v. State*, 320 S.C. 353, 356, 465 S.E.2d 349, 350 (1995). Absent partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to disturb a sentence that is within the limit prescribed by statute. *State v. Barton*, 325 S.C. 522, 531, 481 S.E.2d 439, 444 (Ct. App. 1997). When reviewing a sentencing issue on appeal, an appellate court will only interfere with a sentencing judge's sentencing decisions in rare and unusual circumstances in light of the broad discretion afforded to sentencing judges on such matters. *State v. Ferguson*, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952); *see State v. Sidell*, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974) ("A broad discretion is allowed the trial judge in imposing sentence within the legal limits.").

Here, the sentence imposed by the trial court—eight years—fell well below the statutory maximum sentence for the offense—twenty years. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(D)(3) (2024). Even if 618 days of credit were added to the sentence imposed, the resulting sentence of ten (10)

years, one hundred and twelve (112) days would still fall substantially short of the maximum twenty-year penalty that *could have been imposed* for the charge.

Although not without exception,⁴ where a trial court has imposed a sentence of less time than the maximum, courts have generally upheld the denial of credit based on the rebuttable or conclusive presumption that the trial court took the presentence jail time into consideration. 21 AM. JUR. 2D *Criminal Law* § 743 (2025); *See Durkin v. Davis*, 538 F.2d 1037, 1040 (4th Cir. 1976) (recognizing the right to credit for jail time awaiting trial on a bailable offense is sometimes constitutionally mandated, but also acknowledging the general limitation on any right to such credit where the sentence, when increased by that time, does not exceed the maximum sentence, because of the generally recognized presumption that the sentencing judge had given credit in his or her sentence to such jail time); *State v. Starr*, 521 P.2d 1126 (Ariz. 1974) (holding that when the actual sentence imposed plus the time in jail does not exceed the maximum sentence which could be imposed, it will be conclusively presumed that the sentencing court gave the defendant credit for all presentence time spent in jail). In this case, given the lower-than-maximum sentence imposed [despite Counsel's on-the-record acknowledgement the trial court could impose a twenty-year sentence for the offense] (R.p.293, lines 8-22), there is simply no way the refusal to award 618 days of credit could have infringed upon Appellant's right to substantive due process, or any other of Appellant's constitutional rights. Appellant has failed to demonstrate any rare and unusual circumstances that would warrant this Court interfering in the plea court's discretionary sentencing decision. Therefore, the plea court's credit ruling should be affirmed.

⁴ Certain authorities recognize a defendant's right to presentence jail credit where the custody was *solely* due to the defendant's financial inability to make bail, and a denial of credit would therefore be considered discriminatory. 21 AM. JUR. 2D *Criminal Law* § 743 (2025); *see e.g., Ange v. Paderick*, 521 F.2d 1066 (4th Cir. 1975).

2. Statute Complies with Substantive Due Process

Appellant contends the 2023 amendments to section 24-13-40 are unconstitutional both facially and “as applied” to him because they violate the due process clauses in our federal and state constitutions. This argument, however, relies in whole or in part on an implied and flawed premise: that presentence detention is punishment, and therefore the denial of credit for time spent in custody prior to sentencing is punishment. Neither aspect of this premise is true; therefore, Appellant cannot meet the high burden of showing that the amendments to section 24-13-40 are facially invalid or invalid “as applied” on substantive due process grounds.

a. Presentence Detention is *not* part of the Punishment for a Crime

“It has been traditionally held that *in the absence of an applicable statute to the contrary*, the defendant does not have a fundamental right to credit for time spent in custody prior to trial or sentence, the courts frequently reasoning that the confinement simply does not relate in any way to the subsequent punishment imposed.” Wade R. Habeeb, *Right to Credit for Time Spent in Custody Prior to Trial or Sentence*, 77 A.L.R. 3D 182 § 2 (1977 & Cum. Supp. 2025) (emphasis added).⁵ South Carolina is one of a number of states⁶ that long followed this tradition by

⁵ Some courts have recognized an exception to this general rule when a defendant is sentenced to the statutory maximum and, having been unable to make bail due to indigency, will serve more time actually incarcerated than the statute allows. *See Palmer v. Dugger*, 833 F.2d, 253, 254 (11th Cir. 1987). This appears to be the claim trial Counsel was attempting to make here. But, as explained below, those facts are not presented by this case.

⁶ *See e.g. Ryan v. State*, 14 So. 766 (Ala 1894) (“[i]t could not any more be said to be a part of the punishment itself, or to be proper for consideration in fixing adequate punishment, than the ills and inconveniences and the sting of remorse of a criminal who eluded arrest and absconded could be said to be a part of his final punishment, or proper to be taken into consideration in the imposition of the punishment which the law laid against the crime.”); *People v Jones*, 489 P.2d 596 (Col. 1971) (“without legislation, credit for presentence confinement was not a matter of right, since there was no constitutional right to credit”); *State v Walker*, 177 S.E.2d 868 (N.C. 1970) (recognizing that until the date of his commitment the defendant's status was that of a prisoner under indictment awaiting trial in default of bond, and not that of a prisoner serving a sentence); *State v Winston*, 252 A.2d 354 (R.I. 1969) (finding that at the time sentence was pronounced there was no statute requiring the trial judge to give a person credit for time spent in custody prior to trial, and that in the absence of such a statute a prisoner was not entitled as a matter of right to credit for his presentence jail time); *People v Carrillo*, 297 P.3d 1028 (Colo. App. 2013) (“There is simply no constitutional right to receive presentence confinement credit.”); *State v. Deshawn D.*, 44 A.3d 907 (Conn. 2012) (“Presentence confinement credit is a creature of statute and, as a general rule, is not constitutionally required.”); *Commonwealth v. Johnson*, 967 A.2d 1001 (Pa. 2009) (“There is no constitutional right to credit for time served

concluding—prior to the 1973 amendment to the sentence computation statute [1962 S.C. Code of Laws § 55-11], which included presentence credit for the first time, and in the context of a challenge to the denial of credit as constituting cruel and unusual punishment—that: “In the absence of a statute requiring the trial judge to give a prisoner credit for the time spent in custody prior to trial, the rule appears to be that a prisoner is not entitled as a matter of right to credit for his presentence jail time.” *State v. Sanders*, 251 S.C. 431, 445-46, 163 S.E.2d 220, 228 (1968). The supreme court explained: “The time for which credit is sought was spent in jail awaiting trial and not pursuant to any punishment imposed for the crime charged.” *Id.* It further explained: “Since the presentence jail time was *no part of the punishment imposed*, it cannot be considered in determining whether the punishment was cruel and unusual.” *Id.* (emphasis added). The U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina agreed, concluding that despite the fact that Sanders “was given the maximum sentence authorized by South Carolina Law for forgery . . . [he] was not entitled as a matter of right to credit for presentence custody, nor can it be held as a matter of law that excessive, cruel or unusual punishment has been imposed upon him.” *Sanders v. South Carolina*, 296 F. Supp. 563, 573 (D.S.C. 1969).

Notably, these decisions are consistent with the sentiment expressed by Justice Douglas when considering an application for release on personal recognizance pending disposition of several petitions for certiorari filed by the applicant wherein he stated: “During the time in which these proceedings in the Eighth Circuit have continued, Bandy *has not served any part of his sentence*, but has been held in the county jail. *Bandy v. United States*, ___ U.S. ___, 82 S.Ct. 11, 7 L.Ed.2d 9 (1961) (emphasis added).⁷ Similarly, they comport with the United States Supreme

prior to trial or sentence.”).

⁷ The State acknowledges that *Bandy* is a decision rendered by a single justice, and hence of no binding force upon the federal courts. See *Territorial Court of Virgin Islands v. Richards*, 674 F.Supp. 180, 181 n. 2 (D.Vi.1987)

Court’s recognition that: “pretrial detention . . . is regulatory, not penal.” *United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739, 746 (1987).

Although this rule in South Carolina was superseded by an amendment in 1973, *See State v. Dozier*, 263 S.C. 267, 273, 210 S.E.2d 225, 227 (1974) (recognizing that, until the enactment of the amendment, a prisoner was *not entitled as a matter of right* to credit for his presentence jail time), that amended statute, by which the legislature mandated the award of credit for time served under certain circumstances, was again amended by the legislature in 2023. The 2023 amendment prohibits the award of credit under additional exclusionary circumstances, such as “when the prisoner commits a subsequent crime while out on bond,” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3) (2024), or when the prisoner “has bond revoked on any charge prior to trial or plea.” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(4) (2024). Where there was no fundamental right to credit for presentence jail time prior to 1973, and any later entitlement to credit was purely a function of statutory enactment, then removal of the statutory entitlement by subsequent legislation necessarily reverts South Carolina back to the original rule—which recognized no fundamental right to that credit. As explained by the United States Supreme Court in conducting a due process analysis of a comparable Nebraska statute permitting the revocation of prisoner credits for good behavior: “Nebraska may have the authority to create, or not, a right to a shortened prison sentence through the accumulation of credits for good behavior.” *Wolff v. McDonnell*, 418 U.S. 539, 557 (1974). Similarly, the South Carolina General Assembly has the authority to create, *or not*, a right to credit for presentence jail time. The decision to limit a statutory right to

(“Moreover, since he was sitting as a Circuit Justice, his decision does not carry the precedential value of an opinion of the United States Supreme Court.”). Nevertheless, the distinction drawn by Justice Douglas between presentence confinement in jail and postconviction service of a sentence, is spot-on.

presentence jail time when a defendant commits a subsequent crime while out on bond, does not equate to punishment.

This distinction becomes especially clear when one considers the underlying purpose of bond conditions in a criminal case. As explicitly described in South Carolina law, that purpose is to ensure a defendant's presence at trial *and* to prevent danger to the community. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-10 (2024); *see also Ex parte Milburn*, 34 U.S. 704, 710 (1835) (“A recognizance of bail, in a criminal case, is taken to secure the due attendance of the party accused, to answer the indictment, and to submit to a trial, and the judgment of the court thereon. It is not designed as a satisfaction for the offence . . .”). Indeed, preventing potential danger to witnesses, jurors, and the community based on the likelihood of the repetition of criminal conduct was specifically recognized by United States Supreme Court Justice Douglas as a valid ground for, in extreme or unusual cases, denying bail “in the public interest.” *Carbo v. United States*, ___ U.S. ___, 82 S.Ct. 662, 669 (1962). Here, Appellant demonstrated more than a mere likelihood of repeated criminal conduct—he committed a subsequent crime and had his bond revoked on his Aiken County charges. Similarly, after a grant of bail our courts have also recognized that where the community safety purpose of bond is not met, such as when a defendant out on bond has committed another crime, the lower courts should consider the prejudice or additional expense to the State when determining whether, and to what extent, bond should be remitted. *State v. Policao*, 402 S.C. 547, 558, 741 S.E.2d 774, 780 (Ct. App. 2013); *see also State v. Mitchell*, 421 S.C. 365, 369, 807 S.E.2d 193, 194 (2017) (recognizing that a good behavior violation is committed when a defendant has committed another crime while out on bond). In all such circumstances, our legislature is properly concerned with community safety but not punishment. This is because the constitution does not allow bond to be punitive. *Bell v. Wolfish*, 441 U.S.

520, 535-36 (1979). Thus, while pretrial detention deprives an arrestee of liberty, it is not part of a defendant's sentence.

Further supporting this distinction is a consideration of the practical application of our statute on the computation of time served by prisoners. When a criminal defendant is sentenced to a term of incarceration after conviction, our legislature has provided that time spent in pretrial detention is normally to be "credited" against the sentence. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (2024). This means the amount of time spent in pretrial detention will be *subtracted* from the overall length of the sentence imposed. *See Vasquez v. Cooper*, 862 F.2d 250, 255 (10th Cir. 1988) ("Awarding 'credit' for presentencing jail time is, by its nature, a reduction of the given sentence.") (emphasis added). As a corollary, the denial of credit *does not increase* the length of any defendant's sentence. Rather, it merely leaves the imposed sentence intact. Again, the presentencing detention is not part of the sentence or punishment for the crime.

From a theoretical standpoint, the presentencing credit serves two main functions. First, it ensures defendants will not spend more time incarcerated than the statutory maximum sentence provides. Second, it reduces unequal outcomes for defendants who are unable to afford bail solely due to indigency. Nevertheless, giving credit for time served in pretrial detention is "an act of legislative grace" *Dugger*, 833 F.2d at 256. The "credit" reflects the legislative judgment that because pretrial detainees have been deprived of liberty, even though *not* for a punitive purpose, such time fairly should be deducted from their ultimate sentence. Thus whether a defendant is entitled to "credit" for time served in pretrial detention is a sentencing issue, not a pretrial liberty issue. And as a sentencing issue, it is purely a matter of legislative prerogative. *State v. Burdette*, 335 S.C. 34, 41, 515 S.E.2d 525, 529 (1999); *State v. De La Cruz*, 302 S.C. 13, 15, 393 S.E.2d 184, 186 (1990). As explained above, as long as the sentence

imposed is within statutory limits, it should not be disturbed on appeal. *State v. Bynes*, 304 S.C. 62, 64, 403 S.E.2d 126, 127 (Ct. App. 1991) (“A judge has discretion to impose any sentence which is within the limits prescribed by statute.”). Appellant’s due process argument should be rejected out of hand where presentence confinement is not punishment.

**b. No Violation of Substantive Due Process where there is No
Fundamental Right to Credit for Presentence Jail Time**

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